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Project: Conservation and restoration of the roof of the Catholicοn of Saint Panteleimon Monastery at Aghia in Larissa
Conservation of wall paintings of the Catholicon

This project was carried out by the 7th Ephorate of Byzantine Antiquities of Larissa from 2012 to 2013. The study of conservation and restoration of the church was prepared by the architect - engineer Ioannis Vlachostergios. The architectural plans and drawings of the monastery and of the Catholicon have been designed and published by John Koumoulides and Chistopher Walter in their book: "The Art and Architecture of the Monastery of Saint Panteleimon", London 1975.
The study for the conservation of the frescoes was carried out by the conservator of the 7th Ephorate of Byzantine Antiquities Ms. Vasiliky Touly.
1. The location of the monastery

The Monastery of Saint Panteleimon (photo 1) is situated on the south-eastern slopes of Mt. Kissavos, approximately two kilometers  eastward from the town of Aghia, on the road connecting Aghia to the village of Meliboia. William Leake visited the monastery in 1835 and described it as "a large ancient monastery, pleasantly situated in a wood of oaks and commanding a partial view of the sea." 
North of the monastery, on the plain of another hill, there is the small church of St. John the Baptist. Northwest of it there is the chapel of the Archangels, a few meters above the road Aghia - Meliboia  and much higher in the same direction, is the chapel of the Ascension. The hills to the south and southwest of the monastery deprive the view of the town of Aghia and the road that leads from  Aghia to Aghiokampos.
2. Historical Documentation-Inscriptions

 We know a few things about the history of the monastery. The date of its construction according to the scholar writer of Aghia Theodoros Hatzimichalis  is 1292, during the reign of Emperor Andronikos II Palaiologos.

A dendrochronology study of the timber  of the church dates the construction of the monastery in the same period. Part of the timber has been dated to the 14th century (1358) and the 16th century (1557).

(photo 2) The earliest chronological indication of the monastery is given by an inscribed slab found (in August 1969) under the cross of the central dome on the roof. On this slab four letters can be read ZOS (1568).

 On the south wall of the church, on an another slab, is written that the roof of the church was blanketed in the year ZΠH, that means the year 1580, in the month of October.

 Also there are many other inscriptions of the same and later dates, according to which the painting of the Refectory of the monastery ended in 1616 and that of the Catholic in 1724. In 1861 some additions were made on the enclosure of the monastery.

 From the time of the liberation of Thessaly (1881) of the Turks until today we have not enough information about the history of the monastery, as the monasteries were abandoned when their real property was given to the people through the Communities.
3. The monastery complex

(photo 3)
 The monastic complex of St. Panteleimon consists of the main church, called Catholicon,  dedicated to the memory of the Presentation of the Virgin Mary, the tower of the Abbot, the Refectory and the monks rooms. The wings of the Cells, in the past, surrounded the church. (photo 4) The cells on the West side had collapsed but recently were reconstructed. (photo 5) On the South and East side, today, there are no cells at all. 
(photo 6) Next to the entrance, into the courtyard of the monastery, there is the Abbot's tower . (photo 7) On the first floor a chapel decorated with mural paintings dated back to the 17th century, is preserved. Remnants of the iconostasis separate the small Sanctuary which is decorated with few frescoes.

 (photo 8) The Refectory, on the west side of the Catholicon is a spacious rectangular building, with three niches, on its west wall. The painted decoration is limited, today, on the west and the East side of the building. The frescoes dated back to early 17th century, belong to an unknown painter.
4. The Catholicon of the Monastery
(photo 9)
The architecture of the church is that of the cross-in-square plan (plan of the church) with four columns, two side apses, to the north and south (athonite church type) and narthex on the west side of the church. This is a widely spread church type plan from the Middle Byzantine period onwards. The church is divided into three parts: the narthex, the nave and the sanctuary.

The four arches of the centre bay rests upon four columns. The dome rests upon a drum and four pendentives. To the north, South, East and West are four barrel-vaulted cross arms. Between them there are four dome-vaulted corner bays. Beyond the main cross-in-square structure, to the East, there is the sanctuary consisting of three domed apses, the prothesis to the left and the diaconicon to the right. The Sanctuary is coverd by a central barrel-vault and two small domes. To the West, a separate structure, is the narthex that it is a simple rectangular entrance hall to the church, with doors pierced in the East and West walls. 
(photo 10)
The exterior of the masonry presents stones and bands of bricks in different designs.
(photo 11) The interior of the church is full of mural paintings. Above the entrance of the church, an inscription indicates that the paintings have been made by the  monk Gabriel in the year 1721(αψκα), but it probably refers  to a part of the wall paintings, while the rest are probably older. The lack of maintenance of the paintings and the moisture have destroyed many of them.
(photo 12) The shape of the roof allows to emerge the central dome, the cross arms, the side apses and the narthex. Two other domes, lower than the central one, cover the sanctuary. All the roof, except the narthex, is covered by slates. The narthex, before the restoration work, was covered by byzantine tiles.
5. The mural paintings
(photo 13)
The mural paintings are set out, as is normal, in zones. The subjects are presented in six zones, starting on the lowest level.

Zone A: Portraits of Saints

Zone B: Portraits of Saints, scenes from lives of Saints, Communion of the Apostles

Zone C: Cycles concerned with Virgin. New Testament parables and miracles. Types from Old Testament. Bust portraits in spandrels of arches.

Zone D: New Testament scenes. Evangelists, prophets and other Saints. Types from Old Testament.

Zone E: New Testament scenes

Zone F: Passion cycle. Prophets. Celestial procession. Crist.

In the narthex is represented the Last Judgment, a Deesis, monastic Saints, New Testament scenes, the Presentation of the Virgin. 
6. Restoration works in the past (1969-1972)
(photo 14)
Works on the conservation of the church began in the summer of 1969 and were completed in 1972.
During restoration works in the year I970, reconstruction of the roof of the nave made by slates was carried out and of the roof of the narthex, made by byzantine tiles. The masonry was completed and the cracks were sealed. The old brick cornice under the roof was completed by the use of new bricks similar to the old ones. The entrance door was repaired and the broken lintel was fixed. The original windows of the dome, blocked in the past, were opened again and iron glazing was placed.
 (photo 15)

During operations in 1971 the floor of the narthex was covered by new handmade brick-tiles similar to the old ones. Strengthening of the foundations of the East and South sides of the church was done and a cobblestone pavement was built along the east side.
 (photo 16)
In the Abbot's tower the coverage of the roof was entirely removed, as it was in a dilapidated state. The masonry walls were repaired and a new roof  was constructed similar to the old one. The old and damaged windows and the entrance door were replaced. The interior surfaces of the walls were recovered by new special plaster. The wooden floor was restored.
(photo 17)
Various ruins against the enclosure of the monastery were demolished. The slopes of the floor of the courtyard were levelled. The floor was covered by slates. The fountain and the stone stairs were restored. The dilapidated part of the enclosure was rebuilt and a gabled roofing with tiles was added to protect its masonry.
During operations in 1971-72 the following works in the Refectory of the Monastery were made: 
Within the thickness of the walls of the Refectory, concrete columns, not visible, were constructed. The columns were connected together by a horizontal reinforced concrete beam (chainage) at the top of the roof, to ensure its constructional adequacy. The decayed roof timber (roof dimensions: 3X13m), was replaced by new timber. Repositioning  of new handmade byzantine tiles joint with abundant mortar. The wall paintings (frescoes) of the Refectory were restored.
7. Pathology
Mural paintings
 Before the restoration works,  in the Catholicon the moisture was everywhere apparent, due to the serious problems of sealing of the previous roofing. The main effect was partial exfoliation of the murals paintings and salts appearance. The frescoes, especially on the two collateral apses and the three eastern apses are heavily damaged from the salts presence, resulting their detachment and the appearance of the masonry of the monument. The colors of the frescoes are completely altered, having been whitened because of the salts. Also large sections of wall paintings have been removed (ie, on the central dome of the church).

The problem of moisture was more intense along the north side of the monument. In the Narthex, at a height of 1.5 m about from the floor and across the north side, the plaster was destroyed  because of the rising dampness from the ground. In the nave the entire painted surface of the northern apse  and throughout its total height, is damaged: need for a new repoint of the North side of the church. 


Similarly, the entire Eastern wall of the church with its three apses as well as the interior of the two domes of the Sanctuary were in a very poor condition due to the dampness. A special study for the mural paintings was elaborated by the 7th EBA.

To resolve the problems of the dampness, removal and total reconstruction of the covering of the roof was proposed with the use of new slates (coming from Pelion).
8. Technical Description of the Interventions

The works carried out on the Catholicon can be summarized as follows: reconstruction of the roof covered with slates, reconstruction and completion of the eaves under the roof, cleaning and pointing of the masonry joints.
Specifically ​​the following works were carried out during the years 2012-2013:

(photo 18)
1. Temporary scaffolding to support the vaults in the interior of the church. Necessary protective measures for the protection of the frescoes that were in contact with the wood of the scaffolds, by the use of protective materials such as "felt" (also use of polyurethane).
Scaffolding on the exterior all around the church for the works on the roof and on the vertical masonry walls.
(photo 19)
2. Removal of the old slates of the roofing in the nave and the sanctuary. It was discovered that all the extrados of the vaults, in 1970, were covered by concrete slabs, which was maintained in good condition and without cracking. (photo 20) The surface of the concrete was thoroughly cleaned.
(photo 21)
3.Inclinations made of perlite mortar for the evacuation of the rainwater of the vaults.
(photo 22)
4. Placing of the waterproofing membrane.
(photo 23)
5. A coat of lime mortar of a total thickness of 5cm.
(photo 24)
6. Coating of the roof of the nave and of the sanctuary with slates (origin from Pelion). Fixing of the slates with lime mortar and ciment.
(photo 25)
7. Regarding the works on the narthex: after the removal of the old byzantine tiles covering the roof, (photo 26) a wooden structure (made of Swedish timber) based on the extrados of the roof domes was discovered. This structure was not foreseen in the project study. These domes had also been covered with non reinforced concrete (in the earlier intervention in 1970). (photo 27) A total replacement of the old timber with a new identical wooden structure of chestnut wood, so as not to change the final shape of the roof. The new wooden roof consisted of  sawn beams of chestnut, size 12X12 cm and 10X10 cm and planking made of boards 15 cm wide and 2 cm thick. (photo 28) Upon the new planks the waterproofing membrane was placed (photo 29)  and finally the slates with lime mortar, following the form of the old roof. 
(photo 30)
8. To protect the areas of contact between the roof and the vertical walls, from the penetration of the rain waters, sheets of lead were placed using special sealing and adhesive gum. The sheets of lead were 30 cm wide.
(photo 31)
9. The exterior old mortar of the North side of the three domes of the church was cleaned and partially removed. Thereafter, deep filling of the joints with limemortar was done. Finally the masonry walls were covered with new plaster, because the condition of the stone masonry was very damaged.
(photo 32)
10. On the North facade of the church, the filling of the joints was done only selectively on the decayed parts, because the mortar of the existing old repoint was in a very good condition. 
11.  The composition of the new mortar used for the joints and the plaster was:

                  15% Natural hydraulic lime

                  7.5% Volcanic earth (Pozolana)
                  7.5% ceramic filler

                  60% dark river sand (grains 0-4mm)
                  10% brick dust (grains 0-4mm)
(photo 33)
12. The old iron glazing (of 1970) of the windows of the church was replaced by new wooden frames from chestnut wood with double glazing.
(photo 34)
13. Construction and placement of stainless gutters for the collection of rainwater along the North side of the roof, in order to protect the walls of the church against the rains and the northern strong winds in the area.
(photo 35)
14. In order to face the problems caused by rising dampness along the north facade of the monument, a drainage ditch has been constructed as follows:
Excavation of a trench, width of 1m and down to the depth of the foundations of the north wall. Application of plaster on the wall with lime mortar and white cement. The plaster was covered by a waterproof material of the type of AQUAFIN-DS in two coats, the first thin the second thick. Casting of unreinforced concrete in the bottom of the trench. Placement of the geotextile. Placement in the bottom of the trench of a perforated PVC pipe diameter of 20 cm. Filling of the trench in three successive layers of cobbles, gravel and sand. The backfilling was covered again with geotextile and above it sand and local slates with no mortar. The works have been made manually with the presence of an archaeologist.
This paper was based on the study of conservation and restoration of the church prepared by the architect - engineer Ioannis Vlachostergios. The architectural plans and drawings of the monastery and of the Catholicon and other information were taken from the book of John Koumoulides and Chistopher Walter: "The Art and Architecture of the Monastery of Saint Panteleimon", London 1975.
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